ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

OCT - 1 2014

Certiorari to Florence County
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

DAVID MYERS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000910

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did trial counsel's failure to adequately communicate a plea offer made by the state to Petitioner violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel where it was undisputed that the solicitor offered to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if Petitioner pled guilty and where Petitioner testified that if trial counsel would have advised him of the offer he would have accepted the offer and pled guilty instead of proceeding to trial?

STATEMENT

A Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the June 9, 2011 term of General Sessions for shoplifting third or subsequent. App. 191-192. His case was called to trial on June 29, 2011 before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitor John C. Jepertinger represented the state, and Scott P. Floyd represented Petitioner. App. 1. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty. App. 102, l. 23 – 103, l. 4. He was sentenced by Judge Russo to ten years imprisonment. App. 110, ll. 4-8.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's direct appeal pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). See State v. Myers, Op. No. 2013-UP-051 (S.C. Ct App. Filed January 30, 2013).

On February 18, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 112-118. The state filed a return to this application dated September 16, 2013. App. 125-130. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on February 10, 2014 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. App. 131. Assistant Attorney General Joshua L. Thomas represented the state, and Tristan M. Shaffer represented Petitioner. App. 131. By order dated March 7, 2014, Judge Nettles denied Petitioner relief. App. 182-190.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel's failure to adequately communicate a plea offer made by the state to Petitioner violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel where it was undisputed that the solicitor offered to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if Petitioner pled guilty and where Petitioner testified that if trial counsel would have advised him of the offer he would have accepted the offer and pled guilty instead of proceeding to trial.

PCR Hearing

Trial counsel, Scott Floyd, testified that he was assigned to represent Petitioner on March 30, 2011, but that he did not visit Petitioner at the detention center until a month later around the end of April or the beginning of May. App. 135, ll. 2-10. Floyd stated that the solicitor "delivered" a plea offer "to us" on March 22, 2011 or March 23, 2011 and that the offer did not expire until the start of trial on June 29, 2011. The solicitor agreed to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if Petitioner pled guilty to shoplifting third or subsequent. App. 138, l. 16 – 140, l. 2.

Floyd maintained it was Petitioner's decision not to accept the plea offer. App. 147, ll. 17-19. He testified that after he reviewed the case he "was kind of mystified as to why [Petitioner] didn't want to take the offer." App. 141, ll. 2-4. He explained, "They [Wal-Mart employees] claimed they saw him actually taking the stuff and then followed him out into the parking lot while they were calling the police. Then he was arrested within a few minutes after that. So under the circumstances I really didn't feel that he had much of a chance of success at trial." App. 141, ll. 14-21.

Petitioner testified that while trial counsel discussed with him the option of pleading guilty, he never told him that the state had offered to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if

he pled guilty. Petitioner said trial counsel told him to plead guilty to a “property offense third.” He explained, “I tell him I ain’t here for a property offense. I’m here for shoplifting. When I went to trial, he ain’t never told me nothing about no four years. He told me after the trial. That[’s] when he told me about the four years. If he had even told me about the four years, I wouldn’t have went to no trial. I would have taken the four years.” App. 152, l. 6-18. Petitioner testified further, “I ain’t never been in jail for no property. If he just tell me to plead to shoplifting, I would have pled. He told me to plead to an enhancement third, a third offense. I ain’t never got a first offense on an enhancement.” App. 153, ll. 8-13.

Near the end of his testimony, Petitioner clarified that trial counsel never explained to him that shoplifting third or subsequent constituted a property offense. He said that when trial counsel discussed with him whether or not to plead guilty he “said property offense. I ain’t never had no property offense. [If trial counsel had come to me] and [said] you got a third shoplifting. Go ahead and plead to the four years. I would have ple[d]. He ain’t never told me.” App. 159, l. 17 – 160, l. 5.

At the end of the PCR hearing, Petitioner’s counsel explained to Judge Nettles that Petitioner “was under the impression that Mr. Floyd [trial counsel] was trying to get him to plead to a different charge than it actually was. That was his resistance to pleading . . . If he [trial counsel] would have explained to him that this is the same charge . . . You’re pleading to an enhanced sentence for a shoplifting. He said he would have taken the four years, Your Honor.” App. 161, ll. 1-9. PCR counsel further argued, “I think he [Petitioner] had some legitimate confusion . . . He seemed fairly credible whenever he testified to his confusion” and “[i]t took quite a bit of, you know, me talking to him before he actually understood it.” App. 162, ll. 8-9; App. 163, ll. 4-6.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR court found that trial counsel had met with Petitioner on several occasions prior to trial and that, during these meetings, the two “discussed the charges he [Petitioner] faced, the elements and potential defenses to those charges, and all plea offers from the State.” App. 186. The court further found it was Petitioner’s choice “to reject any plea offer and proceed to trial.” App. 186. In sum, the court found Petitioner’s “claim for ineffective assistance of counsel fails because [trial] counsel was not deficient and the evidence overwhelmingly points to [Petitioner’s] guilt.” App. 186.

Discussion

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Our Supreme Court “has held that a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process.” Davie, 381 S.C. at 607, 675 S.E.2d at 419 (citing Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996), overruled on other grounds by Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000)). The United States Supreme Court has also “made clear that the negotiation of a plea bargain is a critical phase of litigation for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.” Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1406 (2012) (quoting Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373 (2010)) (internal quotations admitted).

“The reality is that plea bargains have become so central to the administration of the criminal justice system that defense counsel have responsibilities in the plea bargain process, responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires in the criminal process at critical stages.” Frye, 566 U.S. at ___, 132 S.Ct. at 1407. “[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from

the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions favorable to the accused.” Id. at ____, 132 S.Ct. at 1408.

To prevail on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner is required to prove that (1) trial counsel’s failure to communicate the state’s plea offer constituted deficient performance, and (2) he was prejudiced by this deficient performance, *i.e.*, there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s deficient performance, he would have accepted the original plea offer. Davie, 381 S.C. at 608, 675 S.E.2d at 420. Additionally, Petitioner must show actual prejudice. “However, it is not always necessary for a defendant to offer objective evidence to support a claim of actual prejudice. Instead, depending on the facts of the case, a defendant’s self-serving statement may be sufficient to establish actual prejudice.” Id. at 613, 675 S.E.2d at 422 (citing Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000)).

In Davie, our Supreme Court found defense counsel’s failure to convey the state’s initial plea offer of fifteen years imprisonment to the defendant constituted deficient performance when the defendant later pled guilty and was sentenced to an aggregate amount of twenty-seven years imprisonment. 381 S.C. at 610, 675 S.E.2d at 421. This Court further found the defendant was prejudiced by defense counsel’s deficient performance noting “that the difference in the sentence [the defendant] received and the plea offer is proof of prejudice.” Finally, the Court held that a new sentencing hearing was the proper form of relief for the defendant. Id. at 614, 675 S.E.2d at 423. This Court noted that there was no evidence in the record that the defendant expressed a desire to proceed to trial rather than plead guilty and, therefore, a remand for a new trial was not the proper remedy. Id. at 615, 675 S.E.2d at 423-424.

In Frye, which was decided after Davie, the United States Supreme Court found defense counsel ineffective when he failed to advise the defendant of a plea offer or allow him to

consider the offer before it expired. 566 U.S. at ____, 132 S.Ct. at 1408. The Court held, “To show prejudice from ineffective assistance of counsel where a plea offer has lapsed or been rejected because of counsel’s deficient performance, defendants must demonstrate a reasonable probability they would have accepted the earlier plea offer had they been afforded effective assistance of counsel. Defendants must also demonstrate a reasonable probability that the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it.” Id. at ____, 132 S.Ct. at 1409. The Court ultimately remanded the case noting that the Court of Appeals of Missouri failed to require Frye to show that the “plea offer, if accepted by Frye, would have been adhered to by the prosecution and accepted by the trial court.” Id. at ____, 132 S.Ct. at 1411.

In Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1383-1384 (2012), also decided after Davie, the United States Supreme Court found defense counsel ineffective when the defendant rejected a favorable plea offer, despite admitting guilt and expressing a willingness to accept the offer, after defense counsel “convinced [the defendant] that the prosecution would be unable to establish his intent to murder [the victim] because she had been shot below the waist,” which was “an incorrect legal rule.”

In order to prove prejudice in these circumstances, the Court held “a defendant must show that but for the ineffective advice of counsel there is a reasonable probability that the plea offer would have been presented to the court (*i.e.*, that the defendant would have accepted the plea and the prosecution would not have withdrawn it in light of intervening circumstances), that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer’s terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed.” Id. at ____, 132 S.Ct. at 1385. The Court found the defendant in Lafler suffered

prejudice because he had shown that but for counsel's deficient performance there was a reasonable probability he would have accepted the offer, the trial court would have accepted its terms, and as a result of not accepting the plea and being convicted at trial, the defendant received a minimum sentence three and a half times greater than he would have received under the plea. Id. at ___, 1376 S.Ct. at 1391.

Furthermore, in Lafler, the Court rejected the Solicitor General's argument that "there can be no finding of Strickland prejudice arising from plea bargaining if the defendant is later convicted at a fair trial." The Court stated, "Even if the trial itself is free from constitutional flaw, the defendant who goes to trial instead of taking a more favorable plea may be prejudiced from either a conviction on more serious counts or the imposition of a more severe sentence." Id. at ___, 132 S.Ct. at 1386.

Additionally, in Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 591-592, 690 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2010), this Court found plea counsel was ineffective in advising Kolle that the state's initial plea offer was "not a good deal" and misinforming Kolle that the offer would remain open after a suppression hearing, when the offer did not remain open and was significantly less than the seven year sentence Kolle received. (internal quotations omitted). This Court stated, "Had Kolle known that the state would withdraw this offer after the suppression hearing, he may have decided to accept it and received a lower sentence." Id. This Court thus affirmed the PCR court's decision to grant Kolle relief. Id. at 593, 690 S.E.2d at 81.

Here, it is undisputed that the solicitor offered to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if Petitioner pled guilty to shoplifting third or subsequent. The record indicates that, while trial counsel tried to convince Petitioner to plead guilty rather than proceed to trial, he never communicated the four year offer to Petitioner. At no point during the PCR hearing did trial

counsel testify that he discussed the offer with Petitioner. He merely stated in a conclusory fashion when asked by the assistant attorney general that it was Petitioner's decision to reject all plea offers. See App. 147, ll. 17-19. However, Petitioner testified, "When I went to trial, he [trial counsel] ain't never told me nothing about no four years. He told me after the trial. That[']s when he told me about the four years." App. 152, ll. 12-15.

Additionally, based on Petitioner's testimony, it appears that when trial counsel talked to Petitioner about possibly pleading guilty, he used the term "property enhancement third," not shoplifting third or subsequent. App. 153, ll. 7-13. Petitioner obviously thought "property enhancement third" and shoplifting third or subsequent were different offenses and he did not want to plead guilty to the "property offense." See App. 153, ll. 10-11. Instead, he wanted to plead guilty to shoplifting third or subsequent, which is the offense reflected on his indictment. Petitioner testified, "So Mr. Floyd come and told me to plead to the property offense. I tell him I ain't here for a property offense. I'm here for shoplifting." App. 152, ll. 8-12. He also said, "I ain't never been in jail for no property. If he [trial counsel] just tell me to plead to shoplifting, I would have ple[d]. He told me to plead to an enhancement third, a third offense. I ain't never got a first offense on an enhancement charge." App. 153, ll. 8-13. Petitioner's genuine confusion is obvious from his testimony at the PCR hearing. Furthermore, PCR counsel stated during the hearing that "[i]t took quite a bit of . . . me talking to him before he actually understood it [that shoplifting third or subsequent is a property enhancement offense]." See App. 163, ll. 4-6.

Trial counsel's failure to communicate the state's plea offer to Petitioner constituted deficient performance. Trial counsel should have adequately discussed the state's offer with Petitioner and ensured that he properly understood its terms before Petitioner proceeded to trial. See Davie, 381 S.C. at 608, 675 S.E.2d at 420.