**RECEIVED**

FEB 20 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Trial Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000910

David Myers,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. CROOM HUNTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101253

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Did the lower court properly find that Petitioner's trial counsel conveyed the State's plea offer, and Petitioner elected to proceed to trial, where trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he conveyed the offer to Petitioner?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner is not presently incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections. In June 2011, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for shoplifting, third or subsequent offense (2011-GS-21-981). Scott P. Floyd, Esquire, represented Petitioner. On June 29, 2011, a jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. The Honorable Thomas A. Russo sentenced Petitioner to ten (10) years imprisonment on the shoplifting charge.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Robert M. Pachak, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense perfected the appeal with the filing of an Anders brief on October 11, 2011. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on January 30, 2013. State v. Myers, Op. No. 2013-UP-051 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 30, 2013). The remittitur was returned to the circuit court on February 28, 2013.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief on February 18, 2013. Respondent made its Return on September 16, 2013. (App.pp.125-130). An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on February 10, 2014, at the Florence County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire. Joshua L. Thomas, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent. (App.pp.131). By Order of Dismissal dated March 7, 2014, the Honorable Michael G. Nettles denied and dismissed the PCR application with prejudice. (App.pp.182-190).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any

evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. 668 at 674 (1984). Under the second prong, the PCR applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR judge when there is any evidence of probative value to support them, and will reverse the decision of the PCR judge when it is controlled by an error of law. Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 456, 698 S.E.2d 561, 565 (2010).

**1. The lower court properly found that Petitioner's trial counsel conveyed the State's plea offer, and Petitioner elected to proceed to trial, where trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he conveyed the offer to Petitioner.**

Petitioner argues, "Trial counsel's failure to adequately communicate a plea offer made by the state to Petitioner violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel where it was undisputed that the solicitor offered to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment if Petitioner pled guilty and where Petitioner testified that if trial counsel would have advised him of the offer he would have accepted the offer and pled guilty instead of proceeding to trial." (Cert. Pet. p.4). This argument is without merit, as trial counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing clearly indicated he conveyed the plea offer to Petitioner and advised him he should take it, due to the overwhelming evidence against Petitioner, and the fact Petitioner was facing ten (10) years in prison. See Bennett v. State, 371 S.C. 198, 204-05, 638 S.E.2d 673, 676 (2006) (counsel not ineffective for advising client to plea to avoid maximum penalty if convicted).

This case hinges on whether Petitioner was advised by trial counsel of the plea offer extended by the State. To be successful on an allegation of an un-conveyed plea offer, Petitioner must prove: (1) trial counsel's failure to communicate the State's initial plea offer constituted deficient performance, and (2) Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance, or there was a reasonable probability that but for this deficient performance, he would have accepted he original plea offer. Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009). Generally, failure to convey a plea offer

constitutes deficient performance, although the existence of prejudice needs to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Id. at 613, 675 S.E.2d at 422. To show prejudice from a failure to convey a plea offer, Applicant must:

demonstrate a reasonable probability [he] would have accepted the earlier plea offer had they been afforded effective assistance of counsel. [He] must also demonstrate a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it, if they had the authority to exercise that discretion under state law. To establish prejudice in this instance, it is necessary to show a reasonable probability that the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.

Missouri v. Frye, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1409 (2012).

In the instant case, Counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing clearly and unequivocally indicated that not only did he convey the plea offer, but he thought Petitioner was foolish to demand a trial in light of the evidence against him. The evidence in the record is clear and unambiguous. Counsel testified that on March 22 or 23, 2011, the solicitor extended a plea offer of four (4) years with no definite expiration date. (App. pp.138-39). Counsel then testified, in response to a question of whether he spoke with Petitioner about the offer, "Well, yes. I mean, I had a chance to speak with him. After reviewing the case, I mean, I was kind of mystified as to why he didn't want to take the offer." (App. p.141). Counsel then explained why, testifying,

Because, you know, it was not a case where he was identified and picked up a couple days later as it was originally written down by the investigator. According to our investigator, Mr. Myers told him he was arrested two days later.

Actually, he was arrested almost immediately upon leaving the store. The witnesses for Walmart were claiming they never really took their eyes off of him for the most

part.

So it was like they saw him – they claimed they saw him actually taking the stuff and then followed him out into the parking lot while they were calling the police.

Then he was arrested within a few minutes after that. So under the circumstances I really didn't feel that he had much of a chance of success at trial.

(App. p.141).

Additionally, Counsel testified that while he attempted to explain the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming, it was ultimately Petitioner's decision to go forward at trial and reject the plea offer. Remarkably, counsel testified Petitioner never indicated any interest in accepting a plea, despite the overwhelming evidence against him. (App. p.147).<sup>1</sup> Finally, Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that Counsel did advise him he was facing a ten (10) year sentence if convicted at trial. (App. p.158).

Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to show Counsel failed to convey the plea offer, much less show any resulting prejudice from the alleged omission. The PCR judge, who was in a position to weigh the credibility of both Petitioner's and Counsel's testimony, determined to give Counsel's testimony greater weight than Petitioner's where Counsel testified he not only conveyed the plea offer but was astounded at Petitioner's unwillingness to consider the plea. As such, ample evidence of probative value exists in the record to sustain the lower court's findings. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Accordingly, the PCR judge's finding should not be disturbed, and the Petition should be denied

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition

for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.